#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 87,346

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Petitioner,

vs.

ALYSE COHEN PARIS and MARK PARIS, husband and wife and MICHAEL COHEN PARIS, ETHAN LOUIS PARIS, REUBEN ELAN PARIS and SAMUEL ASHER PARIS, minor children of ALYSE COHEN PARIS and MARK PARIS, and N.S. MARINE & INDUSTRIAL SERVICES CORP.,

Respondents.

A79 12 1276

PETITIONER STATE OF FLORIDA,

<u>DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION'S INITIAL BRIEF</u>

(With Incorporated Appendix)

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON By: G. BART BILLBROUGH GEOFFREY B. MARKS Attorneys for Petitioner One Biscayne Tower, 25th Floor 2 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 379-6411

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The petitioner, State of Florida, Department of Transportation, seeks review and resolution of a certified conflict between the district courts of appeal. In this case, the Fourth District dismissed an appeal of a non-final order of The Honorable Harold J. Cohen, Circuit Court Judge of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Palm Beach County, Florida. The order denies a motion to dismiss based on the doctrine of sovereign immunity. Department of Transportation v. Paris, 665 So.2d 381 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). The opinion certified conflict with Department of Transportation v. Wallis, 659 So.2d 429 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

The petitioner, State of Florida, Department of Transportation is a defendant in the trial and will be referred to as the petitioner, defendant, or as the Department of Transportation.

The respondents, Alyse Cohen Paris, Mark Paris, Michael Cohen Paris, Ethan Louis Paris, Reuben Elan Paris, Samuel Asher Paris, are the plaintiffs in the trial court and will be referred to as the respondents or plaintiffs.

The respondent, N.S. Marine & Industrial Services Corp., is a defendant in the trial court and will be referred to by name.

References to the appendix filed by petitioner in the district court will be designated by the letter "A".

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

The plaintiffs sued the Department of Transportation for personal injuries sustained in a one car accident with a guardrail. The Department of Transportation moved to dismiss plaintiffs' third amended complaint on the basis of sovereign immunity. The trial court denied the motion. The Department filed a non-final appeal from that order.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal dismissed the appeal, holding that an order denying a motion to dismiss based on sovereign immunity is a non-appealable non-final order. To allow an appeal would require a change in Fla.R.App.P. 9.130, which is not in the power of the district courts of appeal. Department of Trans. v. Paris, 665 So.2d 381 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). The Fourth District certified conflict with Department of Trans. v. Wallis, 659 So.2d 429 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

On December 18, 1992, the plaintiff, Alyse Paris, was driving south on State Road 91 (the Florida Turnpike) around mile post 113.4 in Palm Beach County. The complaint does not explain how or why, but Paris' vehicle struck a guardrail on the west shoulder of the southbound lane of the Florida Turnpike, and she suffered injuries. (A. 2).

Paris, her husband, and their minor children, sued the Department of Transportation and N.S. Marine & Industrial Services

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The plaintiffs have since amended their complaint a fourth time, and a copy is included in this brief's appendix. The fourth amended complaint drops plaintiffs' claim of a "hidden trap."

Corp. The third amended complaint alleges that "the FLA DOT was responsible for inspecting and maintaining the subject guardrail in a reasonably safe condition, and when said rails were repaired to discover and correct any unsafe conditions in said rails so as to protect the traveling public from potential injury." (A. 2). The complaint also alleged that N.S. Marine had a contract with DOT to "install, repair or replace guardrails on the Florida Turnpike on or about September 2, 1992." (A. 2).

The third amended complaint further alleges that:

FLA DOT owed a duty to the traveling public, including the plaintiffs herein, to use reasonable care in the maintenance and inspection of guardrails along public highways in this State, including the subject guardrail, and had a duty to discover any repair any dangerous conditions of which it knew or should have known. Defendant FLA DOT breached that duty of care in any one or more of the following ways:

- (a) By negligently failing to properly inspect the subject guardrail consistent with the requirements of department operational standards and procedures;
- (b) By negligently inspecting and approving the subject guardrail work performed by N.S. MARINE in September 1992, and in failing to determine its conformity with reasonably prudent engineering safety practices, and applicable operational department standards and specifications;
- (c) By negligently failing to discover the dangerous condition with existed in the guardrail support structure and curvature following completion of the repair work performed Defendant, N.S. MARINE in September 1992;
- (d) By negligently failing to correct the above-described dangerous condition in the subject guardrail which it knew or should have known existed;

(e) By otherwise failing to exercise operational level due care in maintaining and repairing the subject guardrail in a reasonably safe condition.

(A. 5-6).

Noticeably absent from the above quoted allegations are any facts.

The Department of Transportation moved to dismiss the complaint on three grounds. The plaintiffs failed to comply with the notice requirements of section 768.28(6)(a), and the plaintiffs filed their action prior to the expiration of the six month presuit notification period of section 768.28(6)(d).

Dismissal was also sought based on the sovereign immunity doctrine. Given the complete absence of facts as to how, when, and where the Department of Transportation violated any duty, the complaint failed to remove the cloak of immunity. Put differently, the complaint did not contain operational, as opposed to planning, facts to make the Department of Transportation answerable to the complaint. (A. 12).

The trial court heard and denied the motion. (A. 21). The Department of Transportation timely filed a non-final appeal seeking review of the order denying the motion to dismiss. The Fourth District, sua sponte, dismissed DOT's appeal holding, a) that the non-final order rule would have to be amended to allow this appeal, and b) that the rule should not be amended because permissible non-final appeals should be limited.

The Fourth District noted and certified conflict in its decision with the Fifth District's decision in <u>Department of Trans.</u>

V. Wallis, 659 So.2d 429 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). The court also noted

that this court is currently reviewing the appealability of an order denying a motion to dismiss based on sovereign immunity in <a href="Department of Education v. Roe">Department of Education v. Roe</a>, 656 So.2d 507 (Fla. 1st DCA), <a href="Teview granted">review granted</a>, 663 So.2d 629 (Fla. 1995).

## ISSUES ON REVIEW

WHETHER AN APPELLATE COURT SHOULD HAVE JURISDICTION TO REVIEW A NON-FINAL ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO DISMISS BASED ON THE DOCTRINE OF SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION'S MOTION TO DISMISS BASED ON THE DOCTRINE OF SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

An non-final order rejecting a claim of sovereign immunity meets the interlocutory review requirements and rationale set forth by this court in <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>, 648 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1994), as correctly recognized by the Fifth District in <u>Department of Transportation v. Wallis</u>, 659 So.2d 429 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). Immunity from suit, if not subject to interlocutory review, will effectively be lost if a case is erroneously permitted to go to trial. An order determining sovereign immunity is conclusive as to that claim, is separable from, and not collateral to, the underlying merits of the tort action, and the claim is not effectively reviewable on direct appeal following final judgment because the immunity from suit, once lost, cannot be recaptured when litigation proceeds.

This court has recognized the need for interlocutory review based on "concerns for early resolution of controlling issues" in Mandico v. Taos Construction Co., 605 So.2d 850, 854 (Fla. 1992). This court amended the non-final order rule to permit review of orders determining workers' compensation immunity. Fla.R.App.P. 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi). The court noted that other remedies were not available to immune defendants to obtain immediate review of their immunity claim. There is no basis for distinguishing workers compensation immunity from sovereign immunity.

Finally, the lack of facts alleged in the complaint support DOT's assertion of sovereign immunity. The complaint does not contain sufficient factual allegations to overcome the principle that sovereign immunity is the rule rather than the exception.

#### ARGUMENT

I. AN APPELLATE COURT SHOULD HAVE JURISDICTION TO REVIEW A NON-FINAL ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO DISMISS BASED ON THE DOCTRINE OF SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY.

A clear trend in this state's courts is emerging. Orders determining sovereign immunity, vel non, are subject to pre-plenary review. The rationale supporting the trend is found in <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>, 648 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1994). Entitlement to immunity from suit "is effectively lost if a case is erroneously permitted to go to trial." <u>Tucker</u>, 648 So.2d at 1189, quoting <u>Mitchell v. Forsyth</u>, 472 U.S. 511, 526, 105 S.Ct 2806, 86 L.Ed.2d 411 (1985).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal, relying in part on Goetz V. Noble, 652 So.2d 1203 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), recently determined that an order denying a motion to dismiss based on sovereign immunity was an appealable non-final order. Department of Trans. V. Wallis, 659 So.2d 429 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). In Wallis, the plaintiff sued the Department of Transportation on a negligence theory. The trial court denied DOT's motion to dismiss based on sovereign immunity. The DOT filed a petition for writ of certiorari. As stated by the Wallis court:

DOT is entitled to relief, although not through a petition for writ of certiorari. In Tucker v. Resha, 648 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1994), the Florida Supreme Court held that an order denying a motion for summary judgment that is based upon a qualified immunity claim is subject to interlocutory review as to issues of law. This petition involves a claim for

sovereign immunity made by DOT in its motion to dismiss, and as such, it falls within the ambit of <u>Tucker</u> and thus should be treated as a reviewable appeal of a non-final order. <u>See also Goetz v. Noble</u>, 652 So.2d 1203 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). <u>But see Department of Educ. v. Roe</u>, [656 So. 2d 507 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995)].

In <u>Tucker</u>, this court directed a change in the non-final order rule, allowing interlocutory review of orders denying claims of qualified immunity in federal civil rights actions brought in Florida courts. <u>Tucker</u> relied on the holding and rationale of <u>Mitchell v. Forsyth</u>, 472 U.S. 511, 526, 105 S.Ct 2806, 2815, 86 L.Ed.2d 411 (1985), which allowed review of pretrial orders rejecting qualified immunity claim. As stated in <u>Tucker</u>:

the qualified immunity doctrine, "government officials performing discretionary functions generally are shielded liability for civil damages insofar as their conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known. Harlow [v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 807, 102 S.Ct. 2727, 2732, 73 L.Ed.2d 396 (1982)]. "The central purpose of affording public officials qualified immunity from suit is to protect them 'from undue interference with their duties from potentially disabling threats of liability." Elder v. Holloway, U.S., 114 S.Ct. 1019, 1022, 127 L.Ed. 2d 344 (1994) (quoting <u>Harlow</u>, 457 U.S. at 806, 102 S.Ct. at 2732).

Consistent with this purpose, the qualified immunity public of officials involves "immunity from suit rather that a mere defense to liability." Mitchell v. Forsythe, 472 U.S. 511, 526, 105 S.Ct. 2806, 2815, 86 L.Ed.2d 411 The entitlement is "effectively lost (1985).if a case is erroneously permitted to go to trial." Id. Furthermore an order denying immunity "is qualified effectively unreviewable on appeal from a final judgment," <u>id</u>. at 527, 105 S.Ct. at 2816, as the public official cannot be "re-immunized"

erroneously required to stand trial or face the other burdens of litigation.

We also note that the defendant official is not the only party who suffers "consequences" from erroneously lost immunity. As the Supreme Court explained in Harlow, society as a whole also pays the "social costs" of "the expenses of litigation, the diversion of official energy from pressing public issues, and the deterrence of able citizens from acceptance of public office. Finally, there is the danger that fear of being sued will 'dampen the ardor of all but the most resolute, or the most irresponsible [public officials], in the unflinching discharge of their duties.'" 457 U.S. at 814, 102 S.Ct. at 2736 (quoting Gregorie v. Biddle, 177 F.2d 579, 581 (2d Cir. 1949), cert. denied, 339 U.S. 949, 70 S.Ct. 803, 94 L.Ed. 1363 (1950). Thus, if orders denying summary judgment based upon claims of qualified immunity are not subject to interlocutory review, the qualified immunity of public officials is illusory and the very policy that animates the decision to afford such immunity is thwarted.

Tucker, 648 So.2d at 1189-90.

The trend is further demonstrated by this court's recent recognition of the need for interlocutory review based on "concerns for early resolution of controlling issues" in Mandico v. Taos Construction Co., 605 So.2d 850, 854 (Fla. 1992). This court amended the non-final order rule to permit review of orders determining workers' compensation immunity. Fla.R.App.P. 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi). The court noted that other remedies were not available to immune defendants to obtain immediate review of their immunity claim. There is no basis for distinguishing workers compensation immunity from sovereign immunity.

The federal system, unlike Florida, does not have a rule based non-final order. Mitchell, which this court adopted in Tucker, discusses immunity appeals based on the collateral order doctrine:

Although 28 U.S.C. § 1291 vests the courts of appeals with jurisdiction over appeals only from "final decisions" of the district courts, "a decision 'final' within the meaning of § 1291 does not necessarily mean the last order possible to be made in a case." Gillespie v. United States Steel Corp., 379 U.S. 148, 152, 85 S.Ct. 308, 13 L.Ed.2d 199 (1964). Thus, a decision of a district court is appealable if it falls within "that small class which finally determine claims of right separable from, and collateral to, rights asserted in the action, too important to be denied review and to independent of the cause itself to require that appellate consideration be deferred until the whole case is adjudicated." Cohen v. Beneficial Industrial Loan Cor., 357 U.S. 541, 546, 93 L.Ed.2d 1528, 69 S.Ct. 1221 (1949)].

A major characteristic of the denial or granting of a claim appealable under Cohen's "collateral order" doctrine is that "unless it be reviewed before [the proceedings terminate], it never can be reviewed at all." Stack v. Boyle, 342 U.S. 1, 12, 72 S.Ct. 1, 96 L.Ed.3d, (1952) (opinion of Jackson, J.; see also United States v. Hollywood Motor Car Co., 458 U.S. 263, 266, 102 S.Ct. 3081, 73 L.Ed.2d 754 (1982). When a district court has denied a defendant's claim of right not to stand on double jeopardy grounds, example, we have consistently held that court's decision appealable, for such a right cannot be effectively vindicated after the Abney v. United States, trial has occurred. 431 U.S. 651, 97 S.Ct. 2034, 52 L.Ed.2d 651 (1978) [footnote omitted]. Thus, the denial of a substantial claim of absolute immunity is an order appealable before final judgment, for the essence of absolute immunity is its possessor's entitlement not to have to answer for his conduct in a civil damages action. See Nixon v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 731, 102 2690, 73 L.Ed.2d 349 (1982); s.ct.

<u>Helstoski v. Meanor</u>, 442 U.S. 500, 99 S.Ct. 2445, 61 L.Ed.2d 30 (1979).

<u>Mitchell</u>, 472 U.S. at 524-525, 105 S.Ct. at 2806, 86 L.Ed. 2d at 424.<sup>2</sup>

Federal courts have permitted non-final review of a wide variety of immunity claims beyond absolute and qualified immunity. Most notably, the Supreme Court allowed non-final review of Eleventh Amendment state immunity in Puerto Rico Aqueduct and Sewer Authority v. Metcalf, 506 U.S. 139, 113 S.Ct. 684, 121 L.Ed.2d 605 (1993)<sup>3</sup>; see also Schopler v. Bliss, 903 F.2d 1373 (11th Cir. 1990) (same); Harris v. Deveaus, 780 F.2d 911 (11th Cir. 1986) (prosecutorial and judicial immunity); Princz v. Federal Republic of Germany, 998 F.2d 1 (D.C. Cir. 1993) (foreign sovereign immunity); United States v. Rose, 28 F.3d 181 (D.C. Cir. 1994) (Speech and Debate Clause immunity); McSurely v. McClellan, 521 F.2d 1024 (D.C.Cir. 1975) (state action doctrine immunity in antitrust cases); Marx v. Government of Guam, 866 F.2d 294 (9th Cir. 1989) (interlocutory appeal from denial of motion to dismiss premised on Guam's sovereign immunity law); Napolitano v. Flynn,

The Supreme Court has also held that state-court decisions rejecting a party's federal law claim that the party is not subject to suit before a particular tribunal are "final" for purposes of certiorari jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1257. Mitchell, 472 U.S. at 525 n. 8, citing Mercantile Nat'l Bank at Dallas v. Langdeau, 371 U.S. 555, 83 S.Ct. 520, 9 L.Ed.2d 523 (1963).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Eleventh Amendment prohibits federal courts from exercising subject matter jurisdiction in suits brought against a state by a citizen of that state. Welch v. State Dep't of Highways and Public Transportation, 483 U.S. 468, 107 S.Ct. 2941, 97 L.Ed.2d (1985).

949 F.2d 617 (2d Cir. 1991) (applying state sovereign immunity in diversity action).

Numerous federal decisions have permitted interlocutory review of orders determining immunity claims on motions to dismiss. See Malina v. Gonzales, 994 F.2d 1121 (5th Cir. 1993) (qualified immunity raised on motion to dismiss); United States v. University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center, 961 F.2d 46 (4th Cir. 1992); Kaluczky v. City of White Plains, 57 F.3d 202 (2d Cir. 1995); Hathaway v. Coughlin, 37 F.3d 63 (2d Cir. 1994); Drexel Burnham Lambert Group, Inc. v. Committee of Receivers for Galardi, 12 F.3d 317 (2d Cir. 1993) (foreign sovereign immunity).

In civil litigation, the law considers the state, or the sovereign, differently than other parties. Article X, Section 13, Florida Constitution, states that "[p]rovision may be made by general law for bringing suit against the state as to all liabilities now existing or hereafter originating." This provision has been interpreted to "provide absolute sovereign immunity for the state absent waiver by legislative enactment or constitutional amendment." <u>Jackson v. Palm Beach County</u>, 360 So.2d 1 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>cert. denied</u>, 354 So.2d 886 (Fla. 1978). Section 768.28(1), Florida Statutes, provides that "[i]n accordance with s. 13, Art. X, State Constitution, the state, for itself and for all its agencies or subdivision, hereby waives sovereign immunity for liability for torts, but only to the extent specific in this act." The state is immune from suit except where legislative or constitutional waiver has been implemented. Sovereign immunity is

the rule rather than the exception. <u>Pan-Am Tobacco Corp. v.</u>

<u>Department of Corrections</u>, 471 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1984).

Consistent with the "rule" of immunity, there are pre-suit requirements that must be complied with before suing the state, and damage recovery limitations. See § 768.28, Fla. Stat. There are also civil and appellate rules of procedure that apply only to the state. See e.g. Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.170(d), Fla.R.App.P. 9.130(b) (automatic stay).

This court has held that Florida's limited waiver of sovereign immunity, pursuant to section 768.28, must be strictly construed to preclude suit unless a plaintiff can demonstrate entitlement to maintain a cause of action against the state. Levine v. Dade County School Board, 442 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1983); Arnold v. Shumpert, 217 So.2d 116 (Fla. 1968). To that end, Florida courts have recognized that sovereign immunity is not an affirmative defense, but rather a jurisdictional matter which can never be waived by the government defendant. Sebring Utilities Commission v. Sicher, 509 So.2d 968 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987).

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