IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 87,346

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Petitioner,

vs.

ALYSE COHEN PARIS and MICHAEL COHEN PARIS, ETHAN LOUIS PARIS, REUBEN ELAN PARIS and SAMUEL ASHER PARIS, minor children of ALYSE COHEN PARIS, and N.S. MARINE & INDUSTRIAL SERVICES CORP.,

Respondents.

PARIS RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

THERESA A. DiPAOLA, ESQ.
Fla. Bar No. 441058
THERESA A. DiPAOLA, P.A.
1645 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd., Suite 280
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(561) 687-5014
-andEDWARD M. RICCI, ESQ.
Fla. Bar No. 185673
RICCI, HUBBARD, LEOPOLD & FRANKEL, P.A.
1645 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd., Suite 250
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(561)684-6500

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is apparent that the action over which DOT seeks interlocutory review has become entirely mooted by an agreed amendment to the pleadings, requiring dismissal of the DOT's petition before this Court. Since the DOT did not renew its sovereign immunity challenge by way of motion to dismiss in responding to the now operative Fourth Amended Complaint, the propriety of the trial court's ruling on the DOT's motion to dismiss the third amended complaint and the immediate appealability of such an order are reduced to academic questions. This being so, the instant appeal has been rendered entirely moot and should be dismissed.

If this court nonetheless does determine to address the jurisdictional question raised, it should affirm the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, which correctly discerned that this case is not governed by the holding of <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>, 648 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1994), nor does it fall within the ambit of its rationale. <u>Tucker</u> involved review of a trial court order denying a summary judgment motion grounded on qualified immunity as to federal claims asserted against officials of state government acting in their discretionary capacities. This case, in contrast, involves review of a trial court order denying a motion to dismiss grounded on Florida's sovereign immunity doctrine as to an ordinary negligence claim asserted against a state agency.

Tucker thus does not apply, and there is no sound public

policy reason which would be served by a rule change further enlarging the class of non-final appeals permitted under Fla. R. App. 9.130 to include orders denying motions to dismiss sovereign immunity claims. To the contrary, the proposed amendment would serve only to foster development of piecemeal appeals, and deluge the appellate courts with multiple review proceedings in garden variety negligence claims over a single issue that could most efficiently be reviewed by plenary appeal at the conclusion of the litigation.

The instant case --where an agreed amendment of the pleadings has already mooted the challenged lower court order -- is a case in point demonstrating the waste of judicial resources which would attend opening the door to interlocutory appeal of this new class of orders. In other contexts, it is not difficult to envision that even where a meritorious immunity challenge is raised, an order of reversal might oftentimes be accompanied by an order of remand with leave to amend. The appellate court might again be asked to review the subsequent amendment by way of interlocutory appeal, and yet again to pass on the merits of the immunity claim upon plenary appeal after conclusion of the trial. The folly of appellate pretrial policing of the pleadings in this context is thus apparent, and the DOT's invitation to this Court to enlarge the categories of permissible non-final appeals under Rule 9.130 to include such an order should be declined.

If this Court dismisses this case as moot, or affirms the Fourth District Court of Appeal on the jurisdictional question certified,

it will not be necessary to reach the second issue presented for review. If, however, this Court disagrees with the district court below and decides to direct a rule change which would allow this appeal, it should nevertheless direct the district court upon remand to affirm the trial court order denying the sovereign immunity defense because the DOT has failed to preserve the error alleged here for appellate review. In any event, the trial court correctly denied the motion to dismiss the third amended complaint because the DOT's alleged negligence in maintenance and repair of an existing guardrail structure clearly implicated operational level non-immune conduct.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS APPEAL HAS BEEN RENDERED MOOT BY AN AGREED AMENDMENT TO THE PLEADINGS.

The DOT takes this appeal from a circuit court order which denied its motion to dismiss the plaintiffs' third amended complaint grounded on sovereign immunity. However, following the district court's dismissal of its appeal from that order, plaintiffs amended their complaint pursuant to agreement of the parties. (App. 58-59) In response to the now operative fourth amended complaint (App. 47-57), the DOT decided to simply assert its claim of sovereign immunity as an affirmative defense in its answer. (App. 70)

Plaintiffs anticipate that DOT will argue that this change in the procedural posture of the case is of no moment because the material allegations of the plaintiff's fourth amended complaint are virtually identical to those alleged in the third amended complaint, but for the deletion of the hidden trap allegations. This is a correct description of the pleadings, but it does not, however, provide a continuing basis for entertaining this appeal.

By opting <u>not</u> to renew its sovereign immunity challenge by way of motion to dismiss, the DOT has effectively abandoned its earlier efforts to obtain a preliminary disposition on this defense and no practical purpose would be served by proceeding further with this appeal. This action is now at issue, and there are no pending dispositive motions hinging on the sovereign immunity defense. This being so, the instant appeal -- calling into question the

immediate appealability of an order denying a motion to dismiss based on sovereign immunity -- has been rendered entirely moot. See e.g. Dept. of Health and Rehab. Services v. Skinner, 649 So.2d 280 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995)(dismissing as moot appeal from interlocutory order ruling that statute of limitations barred claims where trial court's final order ruled that claims were barred by estoppel and laches); Dept. of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles v. Heredia, 520 So.2d 61 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988)(appeal from order temporarily enjoining department from imposing one year restricted suspension of driver by department's license was rendered moot rescission suspension); In re T.A.A. v. Shoultz, 388 So.2d 41 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980)(appeal from dissolution of temporary injunction prohibiting county from separating prisoner from child mooted by probation of prisoner).

Moreover, there is no basis for further entertaining the DOT's petition in this case despite its mootness because the issue presented, respectfully, does not rise to the level of one having great public importance. Cf. In re Dubreuil, 629 So.2d 819 (Fla. 1993)(whether right to privacy may be asserted as basis for resisting involuntary blood transfusion held question of great public importance justifying resolution despite mootness). And, while the issue might be one capable of repetition, it is hardly one that evades review. See Times Publishing Co. v. State, 632 So.2d 1072 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994)(reaching merits of order restricting news media from publishing certain information obtained during jury selection); Nemeth v. R.B. Shore, 511 So.2d 1118 (Fla. 2d DCA

1981). Indeed, the identical jurisdictional issue here certified is currently the subject of review before this Court in <u>Department of Education v. Roe</u>, 656 So.2d 507 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), <u>rev. granted</u>, No. 86, 061 (Fla. 1995), and presumably will be shortly resolved in that context. As there is no pertinent exception to the mootness doctrine here applicable, the DOT's petition should be dismissed.

A. IN ANY EVENT, APPELLATE COURTS DO NOT HAVE JURISDICTION UNDER <u>TUCKER V. RESHA</u> TO REVIEW A NON FINAL ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO DISMISS A NEGLIGENCE CLAIM AGAINST A STATE AGENCY GROUNDED ON SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY.

If this Court dismisses this appeal as moot, it will not be necessary to reach the jurisdictional question on which conflict has been certified. If this Court does reach this jurisdictional question, it should affirm the Fourth District Court of Appeal which correctly held that <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>, 648 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1994), and the rule change initiated therein provide no jurisdictional premise for appeal in this case.

1. The rule of <u>Tucker</u>.

Tucker held that interlocutory review is permitted of an order denying a <u>summary judgment motion</u> grounded on <u>qualified immunity</u> to the extent the order turned on a question of law. It specifically involved a <u>federal claim</u> under 42 U.S.C. §1983) against an official of state government acting in his discretionary capacity.

In contrast, this case involves application of Florida's sovereign immunity doctrine for state agencies and involves review of an order denying a motion to dismiss based solely on the

allegations of the complaint in an ordinary <u>negligence claim</u> against a state agency. By its terms, <u>Tucker</u> does not apply here and an examination of its rationale demonstrates that it offers no logical support for yet another rule change to enlarge the classes of non-final appeals permitted in Florida appellate courts.

In <u>Tucker</u>, this Court adopted the standard announced in <u>Mitchell v. Forsyth</u> 472 U.S. 511, 105 S. Ct. 2806, 86 L.Ed.2d 411 (1985), for reviewing orders denying summary judgment based on qualified immunity of public officers. <u>Mitchell</u>, in turn, held that because the rights implicated by qualified immunity involve immunity from suit rather than a mere defense to liability, an individual denied protection of those rights in the summary judgment setting is entitled to immediate appeal, lest the entitlement be effectively lost by allowing a case to erroneously proceed to trial.

Recognizing there is no analogous Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure permitting appeal of such a non-final order, and seeking to achieve consistency on the appealability of such orders in the state and federal systems, this Court in <u>Tucker</u> directed a rule change to allow non-final appeals of orders denying summary judgment based on qualified immunity asserted by state officials. In reaching this result, this Court recognized, as did the Supreme Court in <u>Mitchell</u>, that such a procedure is consistent with the central purpose of affording public officers qualified immunity from suit, to wit, "to protect them from undue interference with their duties and from potentially disabling threats of liability." <u>Tucker</u>, citing Elder v. Holloway, 510 U.S. 510, 114 S. Ct. 1019,

1022, 127 L.Ed. 2d 344 (1994). In addition to the deleterious effect on the individual, the great societal costs implicated by the prospect of erroneously permitting suit against a state officer to proceed to trial, in terms of "the expense of litigation, the diversion of official energy from pressing public issues, and the deterrence of able citizens from acceptance of public office" were deemed to justify this result. Tucker at 1190.

In the instant case, the DOT argues that the societal costs of permitting a claim to go forward against a state agency are no different than those involved where а state official individually named, theorizing that litigation is equally disruptive to the performance of government in either setting. This approach misses the mark, because it overlooks the central underlying goal of <u>Tucker</u> and <u>Mitchell</u>, i.e. promoting the exercise of independent judgment on the part of government officers whose actions might otherwise be stifled by fear of potentially disastrous personal financial consequences attendant to their decisions -- a realistic concern where the defendant is an individually named person. However, entirely different policy considerations are implicated here, where a state agency is the only government defendant. An agency is not a person, and is thus not susceptible at an unconscious or conscious level to the intimidating effects of personal exposure to judgment.

2. The rule of Mitchell.

Beyond this distinct variance, it is apparent that the doctrinal underpinnings of Mitchell do not logically support allowance of

immediate interlocutory appeal under the present circumstances, Mitchell is premised on application of the "collateral order" doctrine first espoused in Cohen v. Beneficial Industrial Loan Corp., 337 U.S. 541, 69 S.Ct. 1221, 93 L.Ed 1528 (1949), where the United States Supreme Court held that a "small class" of so-called collateral orders amounted to "final decisions" immediately appealable under 28 U.S.C. §1291, even though entered before final disposition of the case. These special orders were those that fell within "that small class which finally determine claims of right separable from, and collateral to, the rights asserted in the action, too important to be denied review and too independent of the cause itself to require that appellate consideration be deferred until the whole case is adjudicated." Cohen, 337 U.S. at 546, 69 S.Ct. at 1225-1226.

The Court recently restated the "collateral order doctrine," requiring that an appealable order of this class must:

(1) conclusively determine the disputed question; (2) resolve an important issue completely separate from the merits of the actions, and (3) be effectively unreviewable on appeal from a final judgment. Puerto Rico Aqueduct & Sewer Authority v. Metcalf & Eddy, Inc., 506 U.S.---, 113 S.Ct. 684, 688, 121 L.Ed.2d 605 (1993) [(quoting Coopers & Lybrand v. Liveay, 437 U.S. 463, 468, 98 S.Ct. 2454,2458, 57 L.Ed.2d 351 (1978)].

Most recently, the Court restricted its opinion in Mitchell, holding that only cases posing "neat abstract issues of law" should be allowed to be appealed prior to a final judgment, and

disallowing immediate appeal of an order denying summary judgment on a qualified immunity claim which raised a claim of "pretrial evidentiary insufficiency." See Johnson v. Jones, U.S. , 115 S. Ct. 2151 , 132 L.Ed. 238 (1995). In Johnson, the Court held that a district court order denying summary judgment in a qualified immunity case was not appealable where the ruling turned on the trial court's assessment of the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the cause of action. In such cases involving pretrial evidentiary insufficiency claims, the Court reasoned it will often prove difficult to find any "separate" question, i.e. one that is significantly different from the fact-related legal issues that likely underlie the plaintiff's claim on the merits. Id., 115 S.Ct. at 2157. Hence, the second part of Cohen is not satisfied in such In reaching this result, the Court acknowledged circumstances. that, as in Mitchell, a similar interest in protecting government officials from the burdens of further pretrial proceedings and trial is implicated, but found this no justification for abandoning the separability requirement of Cohen:

The upshot is that, compared with Mitchell, considerations of delay, comparative expertise of trial and appellate courts, and wise use of appellate resources, argue in favor of limiting interlocutory appeals of "qualified immunity" matters to cases presenting more abstract issues of law. Considering these "competing considerations," we are persuaded that "[i]mmunity appeals... interfere less with the final judgment rule if they [are] limited to cases presenting neat abstract issues of law." (Citations omitted).

<u>Johnson v. Jones</u>, ___U.S.___, 115 S.Ct, at 2158.

3. Applying Mitchell to sovereign immunity claims

Notwithstanding this restrictive modern approach in defining the

parameters of the collateral order doctrine under <u>Cohen</u>, the DOT argues there is a "clear trend" in the federal cases toward expanding the categories of immediately appealable orders denying immunity claims. However, none of the cases to which it cites involved claims of federal sovereign immunity. Indeed, the only two federal cases addressing this specific and more germane issue—applying a <u>Mitchell</u> analysis—have concluded that denial of federal sovereign immunity is not immediately appealable under the collateral order doctrine. <u>See State of Alaska v. United States</u>, 64 F.3d 1352 (9th Cir. 1995); <u>Pullman Construction Industries</u>, <u>Inc. v. United States</u>, 23 F.3d 1166 (7th Cir. 1994), more particularly discussed below.

The critical question posed by <u>Mitchell</u> is whether "the essence" of the claimed immunity right is a right not to stand trial. <u>Mitchell</u>, 472 U.S. at 525, 105 S. Ct., at 2815. This question is difficult because in some sense, all litigants who have a meritorious pretrial claim for dismissal can reasonably claim a right not to stand trial. <u>Van Cauwenberghe v. Biard</u>, 486 U.S. 517, 524, 108 S. Ct. 1945 100 L.Ed.2d 517 (1988).

This truism is not to defeat the force of the "final judgment rule", which requires in general that litigants abide by a trial court's orders and suffer the concomitant burden of trial until the end of the case before seeking appellate review. The philosophical underpinnings of this Rule are grounded in notions of judicial efficiency and economy, as this Court expressed in <u>Travelers v. Bruns</u>, 443 So.2d 959 (Fla. 1984):

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